
South Haven City Hall is barrier free and the City of South Haven will provide the necessary 
reasonable auxiliary aids and services for persons with disabilities, such as signers for the 
hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being considered at the meeting to 
individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon seven (7) days notice to the South Haven City 
Hall.    
 
 

Zoning Board of Appeals 
 

 
Regular Meeting Agenda 
 
Monday, March 28, 2016, 2015 
7:00 p.m., City Council Chambers 
 
 

                            City of South Haven 
 
 

 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Agenda 
 
4. Approval of Minutes – January 25, 2016 and February 8, 2016 (Special Meeting) 
 
5. Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda 
 
6. New Business – Public Hearing 

 
Mike Kane Quality Construction of South Haven is requesting a variance to construct an eight 
(8) foot fence in a residential side yard.  The maximum height allowed by Zoning Ordinance 
Section 1724, Fences and Landscaping Structures, is six (6) feet. The subject property is 
located at 1000 Monroe Blvd and is owned by John and Susan Woodhull. The parcel number 
for the property is 80-53-172-001-00. 
 
7. Commissioner Comments 
 
8.   Adjourn       
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
 
Linda Anderson 
Zoning Administrator 
 



 
 

Zoning Board of Appeals 
 

 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 
Monday, January 25, 2016 
7:00 p.m., City Council Chambers 
 
 

                            City of South Haven 
 
 

 
1. Call to Order by Lewis at 7:00 p.m. 
 
2. Roll Call 
 

Present: Boyd, Bugge, Carlson (alternate), Paull, Stegeman, Wheeler, Lewis 
Absent:  Miller, McAlear (alternate) 

 
3. Approval of Agenda 
 

Motion by Bugge, second by Boyd to approve the January 25, 2016 Regular Meeting 
Agenda as presented. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
4. Approval of Minutes – October 26, 2015 
 

Motion by Stegeman, second by Paull to approve the October 26, 2015 Regular Meeting 
Minutes with the following correction: 
 
Bugge noted a correction to page 6. 1.7’ should be written 1’ 7 " or 1 1/12’   
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
5. Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda 
 

None at this time. 
  

6. New Business – Public Hearings 
 

a. Bill Fries, currently of Portage MI, requests a front setback variance for his residence at 
310 Eagle Street. The applicant is asking for a four (4) foot setback when a 12 foot, 10.5 
inch variance had been previously approved. The requested variance relates to zoning 
ordinance section 402-1. The parcel number is 80-53-019-007-00. 
 
Anderson noted this is a case that came before the zoning board a year ago, Mr. Fries 
appeared before the board twice; he was demolishing a house and building new. He 

Page 2 of 23



January 25, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

2 
 

asked for two variances, he received the front setback variance but was denied the 
variance for lot coverage. His front variance was to be in line with the adjacent houses. 
The open deck has a partial roof that encroaches into the setback. In this case, it was 
very confusing at the meeting with open decks, porch roofs and so forth. As soon as we 
noticed that the upper deck construction was encroaching into the setback, the applicant 
was told he could continue work on the rest of the house but told to quit work on that part 
of the building. Anything done to the portion of the house extending into the setback 
would be at his own risk. The applicant came in and filled out the application to request 
another variance and had some professional plans completed. Anderson noted that the 
building department had received several letters of support from neighbors and another 
neighbor, Mike Henry, came in and said he was in support. There were no letters 
received against granting the variance. 
 
Lewis, looking at the hand drawing, commented, “A nine (9) foot setback from the 
sidewalk to the roofline. How is that different from what is there now?” Anderson 
explained the open deck goes back nine (9) feet, so there is six (6) feet of open deck.  
 
Lewis said, “He has a covered porch, not an open deck.” When asked Anderson 
explained that Fries was told he had to stop work and included in the agenda are the 
minutes of the last meetings as well as information of other variances granted in that 
neighborhood. Anderson asked that the applicant be invited to explain the request to 
which Lewis responded that the applicant will be given that opportunity. 
 
Motion by Boyd, second by Wheeler to open the public hearing.  
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
Bill Fries. Noted he is not a Portage resident any longer, he is in South Haven now; he 
has been renting here while building his house. This is his residence. Fries 
acknowledged that there was a lot of confusion at the previous meetings, but after the 
final meeting that he was at here, he hired Duluth Builders, had that plan drawn and all 
the setbacks and measurements were on that plan which he submitted to city hall. Fries 
noted, “On the last day the framers were there, I was in Jackson. Linda called me at 3:00 
p.m. I almost fell out of my chair. We built the house right to the specs. When I first 
appeared before you I asked if I could keep my deck three (3) feet within that; we are 
forty-four (44) feet back. I had the surveyor, Ed Morse, survey that right down to the 
dime with his satellite; how it’s measured and how it’s platted is a little different but not 
significantly.” Fries also explained, “I understand my front deck is compliant but the deck 
above and the roof are not. The second deck covered the first deck so it is counted as a 
roof. I’m asking you to grant it as it would be virtually impossible to tear that off the way it 
is built and integrated into the house.”  
 
Paull asked how big the deck is. Fries stated that the lower deck is nine (9) feet eight (8) 
inches. Paull asked how much is covered by roof to which Fries responded that the 
upper deck comes out six (6) feet. Paull asked how much the lower deck extends 
beyond the upper deck. Fries noted that the eave was reduced by a couple of inches.   
Paull asked how far back from the sidewalk the front edge of the deck is which Friese 
pointed out that while he asked for thirty-six (36) inches the deck sits back more than 
thirty-six (36) inches. In one area it is more like forty-four (44) inches. Fries noted that he 

Page 3 of 23



January 25, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

3 
 

provided a picture which he does not know if the board has had a chance to see. 
Anderson said that it is in the agenda packet provided to the board.  
 
Fries added that he has not had any resistance of neighbors, but all are in support. 
“Some even came tonight from Chicago to support me. Being next to that facility next 
door, I infringe on no one’s view from what has happened there. I believe I’ve added 
value to that neighborhood compared to what was there. If you look down the street it fits 
in well. I didn’t have this happen due to deceit, it was the last day of the building that I 
realized this.”  
 
Bugge asked whether when Fries gave the builder the design of the house, did Fries 
convey what the variance said to which Friese responded, “Yes.” Bugge asked if the 
builder understood the variance to which Fries responded that he wouldn’t want to speak 
for the builder as to whether he understood. Bugge continued, “Usually builders will call 
the city and . . . “  at which point Boyd interjected that the city issued the permit; the city 
approved the plans. Friese noted he is the general contractor, “They were subbing that 
for me. They are third generation builders, they build a very nice house, so, yes, they do 
follow up.”  
 
Bugge asked whether the builder had a copy of the site plan to which Fries responded 
that he thought so. Bugge repeated the question to which Fries responded that he does 
not recall. Bugge asked, “You don’t recall?” to which Fries acknowledged again that he 
does not recall. 
 
Anderson explained that the zoning permit was issued before the building permit and the 
zoning permit reflected everything that was required for the zoning permit so it had to be 
built to those standards. “There was a site plan,” Anderson stated, “with everything on it 
as it was being built. What wasn’t shown, what wasn’t clear, is the plan showed the deck 
but not the roof over the deck. And the roof over the deck, that’s not allowed.” Bugge 
asked, “That was not on the plan submitted to you?” Anderson responded, “I was going 
off the site plan. The construction drawings may have had something different, but what I 
was dealing with was the site plan and the variance as approved by the Zoning Board of 
Appeals. That was all.”  
 
Pat Gaston, 97 Superior Street. Stated she is kind of confused; that she looked at the 
packet and tried to figure out the old minutes. She stated is trying to figure out when the 
building permit was approved, did the building permit show that roof over those decks? It 
kind of shows that he submitted a plan that showed that roof over those decks. She can 
see he submitted something, that it showed those roofs over those balconies. But also, 
through this whole thing, listening to this, the building permit was given based on the site 
plan or the variances you gave. “I guess I can’t quite blame him if you gave him a 
building permit, if it showed a roof over that. I’d kind of have to agree with him. But if the 
building permit didn’t show that, then he is kind of out of line here. I know he has all 
these people here, but I’m just trying to figure out what the building permit allowed and 
what he did.” 
 
Paull said there is a difference between a building permit and a drawing that is submitted 
for zoning approval. Paull added, “That is the difference; that is where the confusion 
happened.” Gaston responded, “When you go in for a building permit, don’t you have to 

Page 4 of 23



January 25, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

4 
 

show elevations of your building? Isn’t that part of it? You don’t go in with just where you 
are going to build on that property; you’re going in with elevations of your building, don’t 
you?” Anderson stated that before you can get a zoning permit you have to show 
elevations, you have to show a site plan, you have to show where all the roofs are, you 
have to show driveways, you have to show all site and building elements on that plan. 
That’s before you can even get your zoning permit. When the construction permit is 
issued, all of that is submitted again. They actually submit two applications. One is for 
zoning and building is another one for site plan review by the Planning Commission or 
zoning administrator.” 
 
Steve Earls, 72074 4th Avenue. Stated he has been here long enough to know, as a real 
estate associate broker, how important this issue is to all of us. Stated he knew the 
house that was there previously very well, the people who lived there were friends of his. 
Stated he got to know Bill (Fries) during the real estate transaction. As a real estate 
agent, it’s great to have someone coming in to town as a permanent resident and 
improve the neighborhood. It is a confusing situation here, the way it turned out.” Also 
noted he has a business which builds cell towers; does land acquisition and zoning for 
cell towers so he thinks he understands the process. Someone tonight noted that there 
are a lot of variances in that neighborhood. The neighbors are all in favor of it; there is 
no opposition. “It’s unfortunate what happened, because if this does not get approved it 
is going to be very costly and a huge mistake on everybody’s part. For it to get this far, 
the site plan had to be reviewed, the plans had to be reviewed, the variance was given, if 
there is a roof that is hanging over the piece of building that’s already on the parcel, 
that’s how the ordinance reads. It would be in everyone’s benefit to approve as it is, as it 
has been very confusing. There are a number of people who are still trying to figure this 
out, and I think it would be in everybody’s best interest to let this pass.” 
 
Tom Jager, 316 Eagle. Stated he and his wife live fulltime on Eagle Street, two (2) doors 
down; that they were through his old house; it was rough and needed to come down. 
Said he could only speak as a neighbor. “We needed a new house there that helps 
make it a better neighborhood. The house looks really nice as it is. It would be a shame 
and a big mistake to make a change at this point. Bill is a good neighbor, a very good 
neighbor and I speak strongly in support of keeping the project as it is.”  
 
Sue Denice 325 Eagle Street. Stated she is catty corner to where Bill (Fries) is building 
his new home. “I think this is a marvelous street, too, that this is a beautiful home; a 
fantastic project, would hate to see anything changed at this time; it adds character to 
the whole street. I’m very much in favor of allowing him the ability to continue on this 
project.” 
 
Motion by Stegeman, second by Paull to close the public hearing. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
Lewis said that he is confused with Pat (Gaston) also on this, noting, “The zoning part I 
understand. Who approves the building plan?” Anderson responded that the building 
official, mechanical inspector, electrical inspector all have to look at it. After a question 
by Lewis Anderson noted that she looked at the zoning and needs to issue a permit 
before the building code officials begin their reviews. In this case, what the board of 

Page 5 of 23



January 25, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

5 
 

appeals had ruled was fine, the wall of the house was right where it should have been. 
The deck was allowed to be three (3) feet from the sidewalk. Everything was fine until 
the roof went up; that was the problem. Lewis said, “The roof we discussed at length, at 
the December meeting. That roofline becomes the setback. That’s where I am bothered 
that the code enforcement people didn’t see that and say that the roof extends into the 
setback.” Anderson explained that they were aware there were variances granted and it 
looked compliant when Anderson reviewed it, just doing an aerial view and the side 
elevations and everything was fine. Then the roof came out and Anderson does not think 
Fries understood that the deck coming out became a roof.  
 
Lewis asked, “There is a deck above the deck; even without the deck you still have the 
roofline?” Anderson responded yes. Lewis said he understands the layman’s confusion; 
oh, we just put a deck over top of this, it’s a deck, it’s not a roof. But this isn’t that case, 
this is a roof.  
 
Wheeler said he is looking at this in two stages. The compliance stage and being in line 
with the variances is one thing. The second thing is, should this man suffer because 
somebody somewhere dropped the ball. Lewis stated that is a consideration and noted 
that if the site plan were to come to us today from scratch, he would not have been in 
favor of it. He would have said, “No, you have to push the whole thing back.”  
 
Lewis said he doesn’t know how to formulate a decision on this, because he is so up in 
the air. “I understand what our intent was, but the scrutiny was not good enough.” Lewis 
reiterated that the setback was to the roofline. Paull asked, “Do you see it then, that the 
variance was approved with the roof? That although you would not approve it now, that’s 
how you see it having been approved?” Lewis said, “No, no, we approved it with the roof 
being there, we approved it with the roofline.” To which Paull responded, which roofline? 
How much?” Lewis said six (6) feet, Bugge interjected 10 inches, Lewis said, “No, no, 
from the front, oh, how did we do that again?” Paull said, “I don’t remember.” Lewis, 
referring to the plans, “I’m referring to . . . from here . . . from the property line back.  
 
Boyd commented that, as Mr. Earl mentioned, this is a very confusing matter. “I’d like to 
make a motion to approve the four (4) foot setback variance for 310 Eagle Street, parcel 
number 80-53-019-007-00, when a 12 foot, 10.5 inch variance had been previously 
approved.  Second by Wheeler.  
 
Lewis asked if there were any conditions or any reasons. Boyd said, “I call the vote.” 
Lewis responded, “You can’t do that,” to which Boyd noted, “Yes, I can.” Lewis stated, 
“You can do it but I don’t have to agree.” 
 
Boyd said, “We are going to go round and round. In the future, I agree with you, we need 
to be asking two questions about setbacks and lots, as well as building plans, and 
instruct our building officials to have tighter scrutiny, to use this as a template for looking 
at things in the future. We’re not the zoning board, we are the zoning variance 
committee, so I think this variance is a realistic request.” 
 
Bugge stated she has a serious problem with this. “We asked the applicant to be more 
specific in his application. I don’t think he was forthcoming with us during our two 
meetings which we held when we talked about porches that were covered would be 

Page 6 of 23



January 25, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

6 
 

considered in the setbacks. We were generous to grant him a setback the same as the 
adjacent houses, because we felt that their setbacks had been determined by his house. 
I’m very uncomfortable with this; in the past when people have made errors, people have 
had to bring them into compliance. I’m uncomfortable with the whole thing; the way it 
was presented to us; I feel someone came in and they wanted to build a house, and they 
just wanted to build their house regardless. I have a very difficult time with this house.” 
 
A roll call vote was taken. 
 
Ayes: Stegeman, Wheeler, Boyd, Carlson 
Nays: Bugge, Paull, Lewis 
 
Lewis noted that the variance passes. 
 
Wheeler congratulated the applicant.  
 
Anderson noted that when we have had problems in the past it has been with open 
porches with decks over them. “I would like to see something more clear as we work on 
the ordinance with the Planning Commission. I’ve had some good ideas of ways to do 
that. This is getting difficult; it always causes us a problem. We go out and check and 
applicants often didn’t realize that was going to be counted as part of the house.” 
Anderson reminded the board of another situation where someone came in for a 
variance for a balcony; it was the very same thing, it wasn’t on her drawing because she 
didn’t think it had to be.” 
 
Bugge stated she would like to reiterate, if these porches are enclosed, they will have to 
be un-enclosed, noting, “I think this needs to be clearly explained, that these can never 
be enclosed.” Lewis noted that there is nothing that stops this one from being enclosed 
and Bugge agreed, “That’s right by the way the variance was granted?”  

 
b. Lawrence and Donna Zeppiero of South Haven request a landscaping variance for their 

commercial business at 380 73 ½ Street. The subject property is in the Corridor Overlay 
Zone and the variance is requested from section 2406 of that ordinance. The parcel 
number for the property is 80-53-620-051-00. 
 
Anderson explained that for a long time, the D & L store was on Phoenix Street, they 
sold plates and napkins and it was a very popular spot in the city. That location closed 
and the owners moved everything out to their warehouse on 73½ Street. “The Zeppieros 
were originally just using that location for warehousing and wholesale sales; when we 
found out they were doing retail sales we told them it needed to be checked by the 
building official and fire marshall.” Anderson noted that going from a warehouse to retail 
sales requires interior and exterior alterations and it is in the overlay zone, which 
requires if you are doing even a minor change of use, which this is, they have to comply 
with signage and landscaping requirements. Anderson reminded that this same kind of 
thing has come before the board several times. “They aren’t redoing the entire site; they 
are keeping the existing vegetation; planting some trees; putting in a landscape island. 
They are only using half of the small building, so they are only using a small portion as 
store. If the board would like to see more in the way of pots or boxes, that would be fine. 
They are anxious to open; they have been working with the fire marshall and the building 

Page 7 of 23



January 25, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

7 
 

official for some time now. We received no comments on this. Tom (Stegeman) was the 
only one who came in to look at the plans.” 
 
Lewis asked, “According to the letter of the law, he’s only using half of the small 
building? Does he have to include landscaping for the entire parcel?” Anderson 
responded, “I’m saying not, just to make it more attractive along 73 ½ Street; and 
striping just for this store; just to make this building more attractive. That is the whole 
point of the overlay.”  
 
Bugge wanted to know if the site plan could be placed on the overhead but it was not 
available in that format. Bugge referenced the drawing on page 53 of the agenda packet. 
Anderson had a full-size plan, which she brought up to the board, noting where 73 ½ is; 
the large building; the small building which will be used half for storage and half for retail. 
The areas that are green are landscaped or greenspace already; the blue dots are 
additional trees they are planting. There is a landscape island with ornamental trees. 
Lewis noted that’s far away from the small building. Anderson noted that the trees along 
the north property line are actually on the adjacent Goodwill property.  
 
Bugge asked what they are proposing in the portion of green area closest to the building. 
Anderson said those are large existing trees, not ornamentals. Lewis noted that 
according to Anderson’s interpretation, the applicants only need to worry about what is in 
front and alongside the smaller building, adding that kind of brings them into compliance.  
 
Motion by Paull, second by Boyd to open the public hearing. 
 
Donna Zeppiero, South Haven. Stated her husband runs D & L Sales and she doesn’t   
have anything to do with that business. Explained that he has used that for a warehouse 
since 1999 and would like to convert the wholesale showroom into a retail outlet. It 
would measure 45 x 65 feet long. That is six and seven-tenths (6.7) percent of the 
overall building space out there, so this is a very small amount of the total building 
space. The other building is used for a warehouse, used for an industrial purpose; there 
are loading docks so there is no way we could have landscaping along the entire front, 
but along where the retail outlet would be there is landscaping now. The west end, the 
rear, is grass, mature trees and bushes in an area roughly 40 feet x 330 feet. Bugge 
asked what width is required. Zeppiero noted that the green area is what is already 
there; the blue is what we propose to do to be in as much compliance as we can. 
Regarding the suggested interior landscaped area within the parking lot, the fire chief 
when he was out there to give a fire approval, said that could be a problem to put it in 
the middle for the maneuvering of emergency vehicles, so we propose to put two islands 
on the sides. Zeppiero noted that they could have brought a lot of people to support this, 
as they want to buy their napkins and plates from us, but stated that she does not think 
that should influence the board’s decision. 
 
Bugge asked if they are in area A to which Anderson responded yes. The required 
greenbelt is 25 feet in the front, according to Anderson.  
 
Lewis asked if the proposed landscaping plan and the small building can essentially be 
called something different than the entire lot, do they meet the ordinance and if so how. 

Page 8 of 23



January 25, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

8 
 

Lewis stated he would like to know if they meet the ordinance without us having to grant 
a variance.  
 
Anderson said they have a 25 foot greenbelt but they have not met the landscaping 
along the front. Lewis said it is kind of confusing. Stegeman said the islands are 
impractical; they tried to make the best they could to meet the requirements. Boyd 
commented that the board appreciates that the applicants came with plans, reminding 
the board of one that came without plans.  
 
Bugge noted that the property has potential for future redevelopment. While Bugge is  
comfortable recognizing they are just making a small change, if something different 
should happen they would have to come back to bring that into compliance; to make it 
more attractive which was the whole purpose of that ordinance overlay zone. Bugge 
noted they do have green space around the building; we haven’t required anyone else to 
dig up pavement which Lewis agreed with.  
 
Motion by Bugge to grant this variance as proposed providing it pertains to only the 
current proposed use. Future changes in use would require compliance with the 
ordinance. Second by Wheeler.  
 
Paull asked if the applicant is conducting retail business there. Zeppiero said wholesale 
only; buyers such as hospitals, schools and restaurants have to show a sales tax license 
to buy. Lewis repeated it is wholesale only. Anderson confirmed that noting as proof that 
we have had people call or come in to complain that they could not buy holiday supplies.  
 
Motion by Paull, second by Stegeman to close the public hearing. 
 
Paull stated he thinks the applicant has demonstrated that he has done something to 
improve the surroundings. “As long as we don’t reduce the pressure for other tenants 
that go out there. Others will need to contribute to make that an attractive gateway to the 
city. I’m glad to see a start.”  
 
Bugge said maintenance to the property has value as well as landscaping.  
 
A roll call vote was taken. 
 
Ayes: Paull, Stegeman, Wheeler, Boyd, Bugge, Carlson, Lewis 
Nays:  None 
 
The variance was granted unanimously. 
 

7. Commissioner Comments 
 

Lewis: Asked if any pots have gone in at the detailing shop. Anderson heard that 
they were not in business any more. Paull asked if the property owner or the 
business were granted the variance. Anderson said it was the property and the 
variance would go with the property.  
 

Page 9 of 23



January 25, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

9 
 

Lewis asked about the special meeting on February 8 to which Anderson responded 
that the meeting will be in council chambers. Anderson noted that most do not like 
special meetings but due to a grant that is available, if we waited until the regular 
meeting date, the applicant would miss the deadline to show whether she had 
parking or not. Anderson explained that if the applicant gets the variance she can 
move forward; if not, she won’t. 
 
Lewis asked if there will be a quorum to which Anderson responded yes. 

 
8.   Adjourn       
 
      Motion by Bugge, second by Paull to adjourn at 8:00 p.m. 
 
      All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
 
Marsha Ransom 
Recording Secretary 
 

Page 10 of 23



 
 

Zoning Board of Appeals 
 

 
Special Meeting Minutes 
Monday, February 8, 2016 
7:00 p.m., Council Chambers 
 
 

                            City of South Haven 
 
 

 
1. Call to Order by Lewis at 7:00 p.m. 
 
2. Roll Call 
 

Present: Dave Paull, Tom Stegeman, Mark Wheeler, Bob McAlear 
Absent: Scott Boyd, Mary Lynn Bugge, Jodi Carlson, Dave Miller 
 
Also present: Marilyn Smith, Third Party Administrator, MSHDA 
                      Deb Davidson, Downtown Development Director 

 
3. Approval of Agenda 
 

Motion by Paull, second by Wheeler to approve the February 8, 2016 Special Meeting 
Agenda as presented. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
4. Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda 
 

None at this time. 
 
5. New Business – Public Hearing 

 
Karyn Adler Fasel, daughter of property owner Barbara Ann Adler, is asking for relief from the 
off-street parking requirement for dwellings above a retail use in the CBD. The first dwelling unit 
does not require parking but each subsequent unit requires two (2) off-street parking spaces. 
The applicant plans to create two (2) residential units in the second floor of 409 Phoenix (Harbor 
Toys). 
 

Anderson noted there are two parking spaces behind the store on private property; one tied 
to a lease for a separate building and the other space will be utilized for fire escape if the 
two apartments are developed. The applicant could not be here, but Deb Davidson, DDA 
Director, and Marilyn Smith, MSHDA, are here to answer questions.  
 
Lewis asked why the applicant is not here to which Davidson responded that the applicant 
lives out of state in Pennsylvania. Anderson noted the applicant asked that Davidson and 
Smith be here, so they are the designated representatives.  

Page 11 of 23



February 8, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Special Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

2 
 

 
Motion by Wheeler to open the public hearing, second by McAlear. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
Deb Davidson, DDA Director; on behalf of Karen Fasel: The applicant received a MSHDA 
grant to develop two apartments in the upper story of 409 Phoenix Street, then it was 
realized that the parking spaces are tied to a lease. Davidson stated she would not make a 
recommendation but present the pros and cons as she sees them. 
 
Pros: This project does support the State of Michigan’s efforts to create vibrant downtowns 
and create a sense of place. The results are attracting a younger population to downtowns; 
spurring economic development and increasing activity and revenue to downtown property 
and business owners. Many of our buildings do have vacant upper floors; this creates a 
productive use of vacant space. This project supports some goals in the master plan: year 
round activities, better use of upper floors in the downtown, encourages downtown diversity 
and encourages higher density residential use in downtowns. 
 
Cons: Will take up parking in the downtown parking lots, not so much this time of year but 
during summer months when parking is at a premium.  
 
To that point Davidson noted that the DDA continues to increase the parking in the 
downtown and are always looking for opportunities to add parking. There are two projects to 
be added in the late spring; 26 to 29 additional spaces at the old Baar’s site and the addition 
of a new parking lot on Dunkley.  
 
Lewis asked about the square footage requirements to which Smith responded that there 
are requirements. These apartments will have approximately 1000 square feet and the state 
requires at least 700 square feet. The finished square footage will probably be around 900 
square feet by the time everything is installed. 
 
Stegeman asked about the applicant having a parking spot which is currently leased out to 
someone else. Davidson responded that the parking space is leased to the owner of Harbor 
Toys, the lessee of the retail business on the ground floor. Stegeman asked whether they 
have thought about breaking that lease to which Davidson responded that she has 
encouraged the owner to do so. 
 
Smith said there is a broader objective and spoke about another community where the 
parking is difficult, noting that there was discussion that parking could possibly be a problem 
because they do not require any parking. Smith noted the other community has found that is 
not a debilitating problem; that community has ID cards that are attached to the cars so they 
know where those cars are parking, they do not park on the street. Smith noted that another 
community has a 2-hour limit on the street but they can park in any of the public lots while 
yet another designates parking for apartment dwellers, so there are ways to manage the 
parking. The purpose of the program is to provide living and working opportunities close by. 
But some people still drive to work, so those people, during the day, will be gone anyway. 
Smith admitted it is an issue you always have to take into consideration. 
 

Page 12 of 23



February 8, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Special Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

3 
 

Lewis reiterated that the city does not have any requirement for parking for the first 
apartment, and asked where they would park, to which Anderson responded, “In a city lot.”  
 
McAlear pointed out that Smith addressed another city that does not have parking 
requirements; the state is supporting downtown apartments; the state’s intention is to try to 
support the downtown development and create a thriving community. McAlear thinks the 
parking issue is totally separate; needs to be addressed, but as a separate issue. Davidson 
agreed that she believes the city needs to look for long term parking solutions.  
 
Smith commented about the grant, noting that Davidson said the Chamber of Commerce 
coined the term “South Heaven” and noted, “I believe this is a beautiful city. This is a 
wonderful program that may not be duplicated after this. We don’t know what the future is 
going to be like, but do know the façade program added value to the community. You would 
not have a vacancy issue; the program itself is a wonderful program that does add value to 
the downtown buildings but may not be replicated in the future.” 
 
Stegeman pointed out that if there were only one (1) apartment there would not be a parking 
issue. Smith said it might be more than the square footage required by the state but the 
objective is to create more parking. McAlear asked if the applicant went to the one (1) unit, 
would it make it too expensive. This is not low income housing; the goal is $34,000 in an 
attempt to get a young person that could rent an apartment if there were an apartment 
available. There are varying degrees, according to McAlear, who noted that if the developer 
went to one unit she might price herself out of the market.  
 
Smith noted that the requirement is to have the tenant, of low to moderate income, remain in 
that apartment for five (5) years. “Long term,” Smith noted, “maybe it won’t make any 
difference, because South Haven is ‘South Heaven’. Financially, long term, it may not be a 
problem for her. But short-term it could be a problem and might not meet the state’s goal.” 
 
Motion by Paull, second by Wheeler to close the public hearing. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
Paull commented that at the last zoning board meeting before he voted no, he noted, “I hate 
voting for squirrels.” Paul continued, “Ladies, your arguments are wonderful, however, this 
thing violates the zoning ordinance; it’s asking us to set up a system by which we will 
exacerbate an already difficult parking problem; the problem the applicant is having is self-
inflicted. If you go through the list of criteria we go through for approving or dis-approving 
variances that is one of the criteria. The applicant has one of the required spots; she has 
voluntarily taken it out of the system. As good as this plan is and as much as I applaud 
Karen Fasel for her efforts, it’s too much, too soon. We need to solve the parking problem 
downtown. Sunday morning as I arrived for my weekly breakfast downtown, one of the 
employees at Black River Tavern showed up, he is the one who opens, and parks right in 
front of Black River Tavern. What would it take to make sure that spot is available for 
someone else to park in? We have a parking problem we need to resolve. Paull said it was 
discussed about hiring a consultant to do a study to help solve this. We need to solve this, 
before we start granting variances to parking and I will be voting no.” 
 

Page 13 of 23



February 8, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Special Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

4 
 

McAlear, agrees on the parking problem, and noted that the apartment development is a 
viable project. McAlear thinks they are separate issues that need to be solved separately 
and stated that he supports the issue. 
 
Lewis has an issue, as he often does, with the need for a variance being self-inflicted. “Can 
the property be enjoyed the way it is? Yes. It can be turned into a 2,000 sq. ft. apartment 
that can be used and enjoyed. They do have parking as part of the deed of the property and 
the parking is currently leased out; that is a problem for the developer, but it is not this 
board’s problem.” Lewis stated that he is kind of with Paull on this one and does not see 
how he can look at the criteria and say it meets all the criteria. 
 
Wheeler pointed out that it might be splitting hairs on self-creation, but in some zones the 
setbacks make it so someone can only build a tool shed or not even that on their property. 
“Ideally, most of the people who come in here have a self-created problem, it’s just a matter 
of how self-created of a problem it is.”  
 
Lewis repeated that in his opinion this project does not need a variance because it can be 
enjoyed as a larger apartment.  
 
Stegeman stated that he owned the building at 424 Quaker for many years, and had some 
lovely apartments on the top of that with our own parking alongside the building and those 
tenants could never park there, because somebody else would park there, and you talk 
about problems; this needs to be cured. Stegeman stated, “I like this program, but I’ve had a 
belly full of hearing people complain about parking problems. They have parking spot but 
they don’t want to use that, it’s a tough question.”  
 
Lewis pointed out that the ZBA is not the Planning Commission to which Wheeler 
commented that all the ZBA can do is acknowledge that there is a parking problem. 
 
Paull said over the past 10 to 15 years, there have been a number of parking solutions; one 
you could buy into, another making more parking places, but it’s been haphazard and 
uncoordinated and not very well enforced. Paull feels there is a need to solve the parking 
problem before granting variances. Lewis worries about setting a precedent noting that the 
next guy down the street may want three apartments.  
 
McAlear agrees about setting a precedent but every city in the world that is growing, and 
South Haven is growing very rapidly, has this problem. “In order to help with that growth, we 
are going to say ‘bye-bye’ to the grant; the state has criteria; this is a huge opportunity for 
the downtown area.” McAlear noted, “You talk about parking? Chicago, Bay City, Muskegon, 
you will have to find a parking place and walk. Parking is a separate issue, that’s all I’m 
saying.”  
 
Motion by McAlear to support the variance for two parking spaces for the second residential 
unit at 409 Phoenix. Second by Wheeler. 
 
A roll call vote was taken.  
 
Ayes:  Stegeman, Wheeler, McAlear 
Nays:  Paull, Lewis 

Page 14 of 23



February 8, 2016 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
Special Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

5 
 

 
Since four affirmative votes are required, the motion fails. 
 
Lewis conveyed his apologies to the applicant. 

  
6. Commissioner Comments 
 

Lewis: Appreciate everyone coming here for the special meeting on short notice. 
 
There were no other commissioner comments.  
 
Anderson: We will not be having a regular meeting this month, but there may be 
something in March.  

 
8.   Adjourn       
 
      Motion by Paull, second by Stegeman to adjourn at 7:36 p.m. 
 
      All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
 
Marsha Ransom 
Recording Secretary 
 

Page 15 of 23



Zoning Board of Appeals 
Staff Report 

March 28, 2016 
 
 

Zoning Board of Appeals Staff Report 

 
Agenda Item #6 

1000 Monroe Boulevard 
Fence Height Variance 

 
City of South Haven 

 
 

Background Information:  Mike Kane Quality Construction of South Haven is requesting a 
variance to construct an eight (8) foot fence in a residential side yard. The subject property is 
located at 1000 Monroe Blvd and is owned by John and Susan Woodhull.  
 
The maximum height allowed by Zoning Ordinance Section 1724, Fences and Landscaping 
Structures, is six (6) feet in side and rear yards. The applicants are asking for the height 
variance in order to protect their privacy and property enjoyment from a proposed swimming 
pool to be constructed next door.  
 
Recommendation: Staff recommends that the ZBA members review all attached and visit the 
property before making a determination on the variance. The members must find that the 
request complies with all standards of zoning ordinance section 2205 to approve a variance. 
 
Support Material: 
 
Application and narrative 
Staff Findings of Fact 
 
 
 

Page 16 of 23



Page 17 of 23



Page 18 of 23



Page 19 of 23



Page 20 of 23



Page 21 of 23



STAFF FINDINGS OF FACT 
CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
DATE:  March 28, 2016 
ADDRESS:  1000 Monroe Boulevard 
ZONING DISTRICT:  R1-B Single Family Residential 
LOT DIMENSIONS:  125’x125’ 
LOT AREA:  15,624 square feet 
LOT COVERAGE: NA 
REQUIRED FRONT SETBACK: Fences are allowed to be six (6) feet in height in side 
and rear yards and four (4) feet in front yards. 
 
VARIANCE REQUEST: The applicant is asking for relief from the six foot height limit for 
a fence in the side yard in order to construct an eight (8) foot fence.  
  
DIMENSIONAL VARIANCE STANDARDS 
City of South Haven Zoning Ordinance Section 2205: 
 
1. Such variance will not be detrimental to adjacent property and the surrounding 
neighborhood.  
The proposed fence will be located on the south side of the property. The 
requested variance does not include a height exception for any fence in the front 
yard (i.e., in front of the house). The fence should not obstruct the view of any 
neighboring properties and will only affect the two properties adjacent to the 
fence. No detriment to the neighborhood is anticipated. 
 
2. Such variance will not impair the intent and purpose of this Ordinance. 
It is the intent of the ordinance to allow residential fences provided they do not 
obstruct the clear vision area for adjacent properties. The proposed fence will be 
located on an interior lot line and will not extend into the clear vision area.       
 
3. Exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions apply to the property in 
question or to the intended use of the property that do not apply generally to other 
properties in the same zoning district. Such circumstances shall create a practical 
difficulty because of unique circumstances or physical conditions such as narrowness, 
shallowness, shape or topography of the property involved, or to the intended use of the 
property. See Section 2204(2).  
Staff does not find exceptional or extraordinary conditions as far as lot size or 
configuration within this R1-B neighborhood.  The applicant’s house is less than 
ten feet from the southern lot line and the neighbor to the south is proposing a 
swimming pool for their adjacent yard area. The applicant proposes the eight foot 
fence in order to retain privacy in her yard given the proximity to the pool.   
  
4. Such variance is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a substantial 
property right similar to that possessed by other properties in the same zoning district 
and in the vicinity. The possibility of increased financial return shall not of itself be 
deemed sufficient to warrant a variance.  
There are many backyard swimming pools in the city with fences that are six feet 
high. (State and local laws require a pool fence to be at least four [4] feet in 
height.) In this case, the distance between the pool and the applicant’s house is 

Page 22 of 23



relatively small and, according to the applicant’s statement, activity in the pool 
and yard will intrude in the applicant’s privacy and enjoyment of their yard. The 
ZBA needs to decide if this places an unnecessary burden on the owner. There 
does not appear to be any financial motivation. 
 
5. The condition or situation of the specific piece of property or of the intended use of 
said property, for which the variance is sought, is not of so general or recurrent a nature 
as to make reasonably practicable the formulation of a general regulation for such 
conditions or situation. 
Since this appears to be the first such variance request in recent years, it is more 
prudent to consider fence height variance requests as they arise. 
  
6. The condition or situation of the specific piece of property or of the intended use of 
said property, for which the variance is sought, shall not be the result of actions of the 
property owner. In other words, the problem shall not be self-created.  
The problem is not self-created in that the applicant is not making any alteration 
to structures on their property that resulted in the need for the variance. It is the 
construction on the adjacent property that created the difficulty for the applicant.  
 
7. That strict compliance with area, setbacks, frontage, height, bulk or density would 
unreasonably prevent the owner from using the property for a permitted purpose, or 
would render conformity unnecessarily burdensome.  
Without the requested variance, the applicant believes the enjoyment of their 
property will be seriously impaired. Whether this is unnecessarily burdensome for 
the owner is a ZBA consideration. 
 
 8. That the variance requested is the minimum amount necessary to overcome the 
inequality inherent in the particular property or mitigate the hardship. The variance 
request would allow a fence two feet taller than allowed. The applicant believes 
this is the amount of variance necessary to fully enjoy the use of their property.  
 
9. That the variance will relate only to property under the control of the applicant. 
The variance request only involves the property owned by the applicant. 

Page 23 of 23


	ZBA Agenda pg
	01-25-2016 ZBA Minutes
	02-08-2016 ZBA Sp. Mtg. Minutes - draft
	#6. Staff Report
	Application
	STAFF FINDINGS OF FACT





